1998

Mark Graham v. Davis County Solid Waste Management, Energy Recovery Special Service District, The Districts Administrative Control Board, and LeGrand Bitter : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has appellate jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (1996).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did Judge Memmott err in concluding that Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-203(2) authorized the District to charge for search and retrieval of the public records requested by Graham?
2. Did Judge Memmott err in concluding that the District could refuse to permit Graham to inspect the requested records without prior payment of the “compilation” fee?
3. If Graham substantially prevails in this action, is an award of attorneys’ fees and other litigation costs appropriate?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues presented in this appeal involve questions of statutory construction. Because it is the role of an “appellate court to define what the law is, and because the operation of statutes must be uniform throughout the state,” the District Court’s ruling on matters of statutory construction are accorded no deference and are reviewed for correctness. Mariemont Corp. v. White City Water Improvement Dist., 958 P.2d 222, 223 (Utah 1998).

Furthermore, when reviewing a District Court’s grant of summary judgment, the court must “view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable

to the nonmoving party.” V-1 Oil Co. v. Utah State Tax Comm’n, 949 P.2d 906, 916 (Utah 1997).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

The following statutory provisions of Utah’s Government Records Access and Management Act (“GRAMA”) are determinative in this appeal:

Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-102 (1997)

Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-201 (1997)

Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-203 (1997)

Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-802 (1997)

The foregoing statutory provisions are included in the Addendum to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Pursuant to Utah’s Government Records Access and Management Act, Mark Graham seeks access to public records which the Davis County Solid Waste Management and Energy Recovery Special Service District refuses to disclose without prior payment of a “compilation” fee. This is an appeal from the Honorable Jon M. Memmott’s Ruling granting summary judgment in favor of the District.

B. Statement of Facts

Appellant Mark Graham (“Graham”) is a resident of Layton, Utah who for several years has been active in monitoring and improving air quality in Davis County. (R. at 130.)

Graham is a member of the Residents of Davis County Clear Air Committee ("Committee"), a loosely-structured, non-profit organization made up of citizens interested in minimizing air pollution in Davis County. (R. at 130.) In particular, Graham and other members of the Committee have monitored the activities of the Davis County Solid Waste Management and Energy Recovery Special Service District ("the District"), a taxpayer-supported special service district that operates a solid-waste incinerator in Davis County. (R. at 130.)

As a political subdivision of the State of Utah and a governmental entity pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-103(9), the District is subject to the provisions of Utah's Government Records Access and Management Act ("GRAMA"). (R. at 245.) On April 28, 1997, Graham filed a written GRAMA request with the District requesting access to records relating to government-mandated stack tests performed by the District in February and April 1997. (R. at 23.) Because Graham intended to use the materials for educational purposes, he requested that the District provide copies of the records free of charge pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-203(4)(a) (1997).

On May 7, 1997, the District responded to the GRAMA request in a letter addressed to Graham personally. (R. at 24.) The letter, signed by District Director LeGrand Bitter ("Bitter"), stated that a copy of the District's current contract with Rigo and Rigo Associates that Graham requested would be available after payment of \$2.00 for copying costs. (R. at 24.) Bitter advised Graham, however, that because the remaining documents requested amounted to several hundred pages, "copies will not be made until further request is made by you." (R. at 24.) Bitter also indicated that "[s]taff time and overhead will be billed at \$20.00

per hour for compilation of the documents and for a staff member to be present during your review.” (R. at 24.)

On May 19, 1997, under protest and reservation of rights, Graham sent the District \$2.00 to pay for the photocopy of the District’s contract with Rigo and Rigo Associates. (R. at 25.) In a subsequent letter to the District on May 22, 1997, Graham insisted that “the District has no statutory authority to charge me the \$20 per hour mentioned in your letter.” (R. at 26.) Graham requested that he be allowed access to the records free of charge and asked the District to set a date for inspection between May 27 and June 10, 1997, but excluding June 4. (R. at 26.)

On May 29, 1997, the District sent Graham a copy of the Rigo and Rigo contract. (R. at 27.) The enclosed letter indicated that the additional documents requested would be available to review in the District offices on June 10 but that the District intended to bill Graham “for the staff time incurred in filling your request.” (R. at 27.) The following week, Graham received another letter dated June 4, 1997 indicating that the documents he had requested had been compiled but that he would not be allowed to view the records until he paid \$280.00 incurred by the District in staff time and overhead. (R. at 28.)

On June 9, 1997, pursuant to District Ordinance 92-C, Graham appealed the District’s \$280.00 charge for producing the records contained in his GRAMA request. (R. at 29-31.) The letter of appeal was signed by Graham and made no reference to the Committee. (R. at 29-31.) Bitter denied Graham’s appeal on June 24, 1997. (R. at 34.)

On July 2, 1997, Graham appeared before the District’s Administrative Review Board (“Board”) to appeal Bitter’s decision. (R. at 247.) The Board voted to deny Graham’s appeal

immediately following the meeting. (R. at 247.) The next day, the Board mailed a written denial of appeal addressed to Graham personally. (R. at 247.)

C. Course of Proceedings

Graham, acting *pro se*, filed a complaint in the Second Judicial District for Davis County on July 30, 1997 seeking judicial review of the Board's decision to deny his appeal. (R. at 1-6.) Graham sought declaratory and injunctive relief declaring that the District's refusal to allow inspection or copying of the requested records without prior payment of \$280.00 was unlawful, that the District be ordered to make the requested records available for inspection by Graham free of charge, and that the District be ordered to pay Graham's litigation costs incurred in prosecuting this action. (R. at 1-6.) The Complaint was brought in the name of the Committee but was filed by Graham appearing *pro se*. (R. at 1-6.)

The District's Answer on August 25, 1997 alerted Graham to the fact that Graham, not the Committee, was the proper party plaintiff. (R. at 35-40.) On September 19, 1997, soon after this pleading error was brought to his attention, Graham filed a Motion to File an Amended Complaint substituting Graham as plaintiff in place of the Committee. (R. at 114-15.)

In response, the District filed a Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment on October 3, 1997 arguing that the Committee was not a proper party plaintiff and opposing the substitution of Graham for the Committee. (R. at 46-48.) That same day, mistakenly believing that the matter had been properly submitted for decision, Judge Jon M. Memmott of the Second Judicial District Court of Davis County issued an Order Granting Leave to File

Amended Complaint. (R. at 125.) Because the matter was not ripe for decision on October 3, the trial court later withdrew this order. (R. at 152.)

On November 18, 1997, after the motions were fully briefed, the trial court denied the District's Motion to Dismiss and granted Graham's Motion to Amend. (R. at 144-52.) The trial court ruled that Graham's timely request to amend the complaint when notified that he could not represent the Committee *pro se* argued against dismissal of the case. (R. at 144-52.) Furthermore, the trial court held that Graham should be allowed to amend the complaint under Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 15(a) and that the identity of interest between Graham and the Committee allowed the amendment to relate back to the date of filing. (R. at 144-52.)

On January 16, 1998, Graham filed a Motion for Summary Judgment seeking the trial court's determination, as a matter of law, that the District's refusal to permit inspection or copying of the requested records without prior payment of the \$280.00 "compilation" fee was unlawful under GRAMA. (R. at 159.) The District opposed Graham's motion and filed a Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment seeking judgment in its favor. (R. at 174-76.) On April 6, 1998, the trial court ruled, as a matter of law, that GRAMA permitted the District to charge Graham \$280.00 for compiling the requested records and accordingly granted summary judgment in favor of the District. (R. at 245-54.) On May 5, 1998, Graham, through counsel, filed a Notice of Appeal from the trial court's Ruling. (R. at 258-60.)

On May 18, 1998, the District filed a Notice of Cross-Appeal of the portion of the trial court's April 6, 1998 Ruling denying the District attorneys' fees and the trial court's

November 18, 1997 Order granting Graham's Motion to Amend the Complaint and denying the District's Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment. (R. at 272-73.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District's imposition of a \$280.00 "compilation" fee, representing the cost of staff time expended in searching for and retrieving records responsive to Graham's request, violates GRAMA because Graham did not request the District to compile a record in a different form within the meaning of Utah Code Ann § 63-2-203(2) (1997). The plain language of § 63-2-203(2) limits charges for staff time to those instances where an individual has requested a governmental entity to provide a record in a particular format *other* than the form in which the governmental entity normally maintains the record. The legislative history of GRAMA's 1994 fee amendments confirms that § 63-2-203(2) was only intended to apply when the government agency changes or modifies the form in which the record is maintained in response to a specific request. Furthermore, GRAMA's purpose of promoting open government would be frustrated if governmental agencies were allowed to charge substantial search and retrieval fees as a condition of access to public records. Because Graham's request merely sought access to existing District records in their existing format, the District was not entitled to impose the \$280.00 compilation fee as a condition of access.

Even if § 63-2-203(2) is construed to permit the District to charge a "compilation" fee to provide *copies* of the subject records, the District is not permitted to charge Graham a fee for merely *inspecting* the records. GRAMA expressly forbids governmental entities from

assessing fees against individuals wishing to inspect public records. Furthermore, GRAMA's prohibition on inspection fees is not subject to the compiling fee provisions of § 63-2-203.

If Graham substantially prevails in this action, the Court should award Graham his attorneys' fees and costs incurred, as provided by GRAMA, as a result of the District's wrongful refusal to allow Graham to inspect the District's public records without paying the \$280.00 compilation fee. An award of attorneys' fees is particularly appropriate in this case because Graham's original GRAMA request and his pursuit of this appeal are in the public interest.

ARGUMENT

I. UNDER UTAH CODE ANN. 63-2-203(2), THE DISTRICT MAY NOT CHARGE GRAHAM FOR THE COST OF STAFF TIME FOR SEARCH AND RETRIEVAL OF REQUESTED DOCUMENTS BECAUSE THE DISTRICT DID NOT COMPILE A RECORD IN A FORM DIFFERENT FROM THAT NORMALLY MAINTAINED BY THE DISTRICT.

The District's charge of \$280.00 for the staff time required to respond to Graham's records request was unlawful under GRAMA because Graham did not request that the District compile a record in a different form within the meaning of § 63-2-203(2). The starting place for construing a statute is its plain language. See V-1 Oil Co. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n, 942 P.2d 906, 916-17 (Utah 1997). When the language of the statute is ambiguous, however, the court may then "seek guidance from the legislative history and relevant policy considerations." Id. The plain language, legislative history, and public policies underlying Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-203(2) each support the conclusion that governmental entities may not charge for staff time required to fulfill a GRAMA request for existing public records in their existing format.

A. Plain Language

Under the plain language of § 63-2-203(2), the District was not permitted to charge Graham for staff time when Graham did not request the records in a form other than that normally maintained by the District. The Utah Supreme Court has indicated that “when faced with a question of statutory construction, we look first to the plain language of the statute.” CIG Exploration, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Comm’n, 897 P.2d 1214, 1216 (Utah 1995).¹

Under the plain language of § 63-2-203(2), the District may not charge Graham for staff time involved in search and retrieval of the requested records because Graham did not request that the District compile these records in a form not used by the District. Section 63-2-203(2) allows governmental entities to charge for staff time involved in complying with a records request only when a requester has asked the entity to provide a record in a form different than that in which the governmental entity normally maintains the record. The relevant portion of GRAMA’s fee section provides:

(2) When a governmental entity *compiles a record in a form other than that normally maintained by the governmental entity*, the actual costs under this section may include the following:

- (a) the cost of staff time for summarizing, compiling, or tailoring the record either into an organization or media to meet the person’s request;
- (b) the cost of staff time for search, retrieval, and other direct administrative costs of complying with the request. . . .

¹ When interpreting provisions of state open records acts similar to GRAMA, courts have narrowly construed any provisions restricting access to public records. See, e.g., McFrugal Rental v. Garr, 418 S.E.2d 60, 61 (Ga. 1992) (“By its nature, any fee imposed pursuant to [the fee provisions of the Open Records Act] constitutes a burden on the public’s right of access to public records. Therefore, the statute must be narrowly construed.”).

Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-203(2) (1997) (emphasis added). The government entity's authority to charge for the costs listed in subsections (2)(a) and (2)(b) is expressly conditioned by the clause: "When a governmental entity compiles a record in a form other than that normally maintained by a governmental entity." The plain reading of this provision is that the staff time required to fulfill a records request cannot be charged to the requester except in those circumstances when this express condition is satisfied. In this case, because Graham did not request that the District compile the requested records in a form not used by the District, the District was not permitted to charge Graham for the staff time used to search for and retrieve the records.²

This reading of § 63-2-203(2) is further supported by complementary provisions of GRAMA. The Utah Supreme Court has indicated that when "doubt or uncertainty exists as to the meaning or application of an act's provisions, the court should analyze the act in its entirety and 'harmonize its provisions in accordance with the legislative intent and purpose.'" Benyon v. St. George-Dixie Lodge # 1743, 854 P.2d 513, 518 (Utah 1993) (quoting Osuala v. Aetna Life & Casualty, 608 P.2d 242, 243 (Utah 1980)). When interpreting GRAMA's fee provisions, it is particularly helpful to read § 63-2-203(2) in conjunction with § 63-2-201(8). Section 63-2-201(8) provides in relevant part:

- (b) Upon request a governmental entity shall provide a record in a particular format if:
 - (i) the governmental entity is able to do so without unreasonably interfering with the governmental entity's duties and responsibilities; and

² Furthermore, the Legislature's choice of the phrase "compiling *a* record" indicates that it did not intend this section to apply to the act of retrieving and gathering multiple records together in response to a GRAMA request. Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-203(2) (1997) (emphasis added).

(ii) the requester agrees to pay the governmental entity for its costs incurred in providing the record in its requested format in accordance with Section 63-2-203.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-201(8)(b) (1997). Section 63-2-201(8) informs requesters that they have the right to request records in a different format if they are willing to pay the costs incurred in accordance with § 63-2-203. Section 63-2-203 then specifies the fees the government can charge for performing this service “to meet the person’s request.” Thus, when viewed in the context of the entire act, GRAMA’s provision allowing for “compiling” fees is understood to be limited to those exceptional situations where the requester has asked the entity to perform work beyond what is involved in responding to a routine records requests. In this case, Graham did not request that the District provide a record in a particular format nor did he request that the District summarize, transform, or manipulate the information in any way.³ Instead, Graham simply requested access to existing District records in their existing form. GRAMA does not allow entities to charge for staff time in fulfilling such routine requests.

In interpreting the language of § 63-2-203(2), the trial court erred by failing to give the conditional clause in subsection (2) any meaning independent of the following subordinate clauses. The Utah Supreme Court has counseled that when analyzing the plain language of the statute, “we must attempt to give each part of the provision a relevant and independent

³ The fact that some of the records may have been stored electronically in computer format does not assist the District’s position. At no time did Graham ask the District to manipulate, transform or convert the computer data to another format. Moreover, the District “may not use the physical form, electronic or otherwise, in which a record is stored to deny, or unreasonably hinder the rights of persons to inspect and receive copies of a record under [GRAMA].” Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-201 (1997).

meaning so as to give effect to all its terms.” In re Worthen, 926 P.2d 853, 866 (Utah 1996). The trial court misconstrued § 63-2-203(2) by defining the qualifying phrase “compiles a record in a form other than that normally maintained by the governmental entity” by reference to the type of work that may be billed to the requester if the condition is fulfilled. The trial court found that “any of the tasks listed at 63-2-203(a) through (c) must, by necessity, be encompassed within the term compile.” (R. at 252.) However, if the Legislature intended to allow for staff time charges whenever the governmental entity performed any of the tasks listed in Subsections (2)(a) through (c), there would be no need for the qualifying language at the outset of Subsection (2). If the trial court’s reading is accepted, the conditional clause at the beginning of the section would be rendered mere surplusage. Thus, the trial court’s interpretation of the statute ignores the fundamental tenet of statutory construction that the independent meaning of each provision must be given effect.

The plain language of § 63-2-203(2) limits its application to extraordinary records requests in which the requester asks the governmental entity to provide the information in a customized format. The District and the trial court erred in applying this section to Graham’s routine records request.⁴

B. Legislative History

The legislative history of GRAMA’s 1994 fee amendments indicate that § 63-2-203(2) was only intended to apply when the governmental agency modified the form of a record in

⁴ Ordinance No. 92-C, adopted by the District pursuant to GRAMA, permits the District to charge Graham 25 cents per page for each page of public records Graham requests to be photocopied. (R. at 101.) To be lawful under GRAMA, the 25 cents per page fee must reflect the District’s “actual costs of duplicating a record,” Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-203(1) (1997).

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