1998

Mark Graham v. Davis County Solid Waste Management, Energy Recovery Special Service District, The District's Administrative Control Board : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court should not have reached the merits of this case because it lacked jurisdiction. The Clear Air Committee's filing of the original complaint was void because it cannot represent *pro se* and because it is barred from access to the courts of Utah for failure to comply with Utah's Assumed Name Statute. Because the original complaint was void, Graham's substitution as plaintiff commenced an entirely new, but by that time an untimely, appeal from the District's decision.

If this Court concludes that the trial court had jurisdiction, the trial court's decision on the merits should be affirmed in all respects. The District had to spent 14

hours of staff time compiling the records the Clear Air Committee requested. Due to the nature of the requests, the District had to thoroughly review District records and computer databases and cull those records requested by the Clear Air Committee. In doing so, under the plain meaning of the words "compile" and "form," the District compiled the records in a form not normally maintained by the District, but in a form specifically requested by the Clear Air Committee.

Public policy demands such a result. If records requesters only are required by GRAMA to pay for staff time incurred filling a records request when the requester specifically asks that the records be put in an entirely different format or media, requesters could avoid costs, yet needlessly tie up government operations, by simply requesting that paper records be produced on paper, computer records on computer disks, and so forth. By requiring requesters to pay staff time incurred compiling records, as requesters must pay under other public access laws such as the Freedom of Information Act, it will encourage requesters to draft their requests narrowly to seek only the information they really need and will protect the public coffers when a request necessarily requires significant staff time to fill.

Graham is not entitled to attorney fees and costs because the District's position has a reasonable basis. The District's position prevailed in the trial court and will prevail on appeal. However, if Graham prevails, attorney fees still are not justified because the District had a reasonable basis for its actions. At the very least, a

determination of whether Graham is entitled to attorney fees requires a remand to the trial court to resolve issues of fact and Graham's compliance with the provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE CLEAR AIR COMMITTEE'S COMPLAINT WAS VOID WHEN FILED AND GRAHAM'S SUBSTITUTION AS PLAINTIFF COMMENCED A NEW ACTION THAT WAS NOT TIMELY³

The Clear Air Committee's original complaint was void when it was filed because the Clear Air Committee cannot represent itself in court *pro se* and because it was prohibited from access to the courts for failure to register its assumed name. Therefore, an appeal from the Administrative Control Board's decision was never perfected within the time period allowed. Because the complaint was void when filed, Graham's substitution as plaintiff commenced a new action, but one that was untimely and should have been dismissed.

The Utah Supreme Court has written that "[i]t has long been the law of this jurisdiction that a corporate litigant must be represented in court by a licensed

³ The District would prefer to have the Court rule on the merits of Graham's appeal, but because a serious question exists concerning whether the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction the District feels duty-bound to protect the integrity of the Court by raising and addressing this issue.

attorney." *Tracy-Burke Assoc. v. Department of Employment Sec., Industrial Comm'n of Utah*, 699 P.2d 687, 687 (Utah 1985).

A corporation is not a natural person. It is an artificial entity created by law and as such it can neither practice law nor appear or act in person. Out of court it must act in its affairs through its agents and representatives and in matters in court it can act only through licensed attorneys. A corporation cannot appear in court by an officer who is not an attorney and it cannot appear in *propria persona*.

Id. at 687; accord *Tuttle v. Hi-Land Dairyman's Ass'n*, 350 P.2d 616, 618 (Utah 1960) (citing *Paradise v. Nowlin*, 195 P.2d 867, 867 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1948)). Indeed, Utah Code Ann. § 78-51-40 (1996) specifically prohibits both corporations and voluntary associations, like the Clear Air Committee, from practicing law.⁴

The California Court of Appeals held in *Paradise* that a notice of appeal and an opposition brief filed *pro se* by a corporation was "void" by reason of the corporation's lack of power to represent itself in an action in court." 195 P.2d at 867 (emphasis added). In *Tracy-Burke*, the Utah Supreme Court relied on *Paradise* to dismiss a petition for a writ of review challenging a decision of the Industrial

Utah Code Ann. § 78-51-40 provides in relevant part:

It shall be unlawful for any corporation or voluntary association . . . to hold itself out to the public by advertisement or otherwise as being entitled to practice law or to furnish attorneys or counselors, or to render legal services or advice of any kind in any action or proceeding, or to solicit directly or indirectly any claim or demand for the purpose of bringing action thereon

Commission because the petition had been filed by the corporation *pro se*. 699 P.2d at 687. If the corporation's actions in *Tracy-Burke* had not been void when filed, the actions could have been corrected by the appearance of an attorney for the corporation. Yet, the Supreme Court, implying that the filing by the corporation itself could not be corrected, dismissed the petition outright rather than instructing the corporation to have counsel make an appearance.

This is significant because the petition in *Tracy-Burke* was essentially the same type of proceeding filed by the Clear Air Committee in this case—it was an appeal to a court from a decision of an administrative agency. Graham, as a member of the Clear Air Committee, but not a licensed attorney, filed the complaint *pro se* for the Clear Air Committee as an appeal from the Administrative Control Board's decision. Because the Clear Air Committee is a voluntary unincorporated association, it cannot practice law by itself. Utah Code Ann. § 78-51-40. As such, the filing of the complaint was void under *Tracy-Burke* and *Paradise*.

In addition, the complaint filed by the Clear Air Committee was void because the Clear Air Committee was barred from access to the trial court for failing to comply with the requirements of Utah's Assumed Name Statute, Utah Code Ann. §§ 42-2-5 to 42-2-11 (1997). This statute requires that

[e]very person who carries on, conducts, or transacts
business in this state under an assumed name, whether that
business is carried on, conducted, or transacted as an

individual, **association**, partnership, corporation, or otherwise, shall file with the Division of Corporations and Commercial Code a certificate setting forth: the name under which the business is, or is to be carried on

Id. § -5 (emphasis added).⁵

A penalty barring access to the courts of the state of Utah is imposed on those who fail to comply with the Assumed Name Statute. The statute provides that a non-complying party "**shall not sue, prosecute, or maintain any action, suit, counterclaim, cross complaint, or proceeding in any of the courts of this state.**" *Id.* § -10 (emphasis added); *accord Blodgett v. Zions First Nat'l Bank*, 752 P.2d 901 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). Upon compliance with Utah's Assumed Name Statute, this penalty may be removed. *Wall Inv. Co. v. Garden Gate Distrib., Inc.*, 593 P.2d 542 (Utah 1979).

Here, the Clear Air Committee failed to file an assumed name registration with the Utah Department of Commerce, Division of Corporations and Commercial Code prior to filing suit. R. 93-96. It also did not correct that failure prior to the

⁵ There is some question whether the Clear Air Committee could even register its name with the Division of Corporations and Commercial Code. The full name of the Clear Air Committee is "Residents of Davis County Clear Air Committee." Utah Code Ann. § 42-2-6.6(6) (1997) provides that "[a] name that implies by any word in the name that it is an agency of the state or of any of its political subdivisions, if it is not actually such a legally established agency, may not be approved for filing by the Division of Corporations and Commercial Code." Thus, inclusion of the words "Davis County" in the name of the Clear Air Committee may be illegal.

expiration of the 30-day appeal period following the Administrative Control Board's denial of the Clear Air Committee's appeal. *Id.* Consequently, under Utah Code Ann. § 42-2-10 (1997), it was barred from filing any action in the trial court within the relevant appeal time, and its filing was void.

Because the filing of the original complaint by the Clear Air Committee was void, there was no valid action for which Graham could be substituted as plaintiff. At most, his "substitution" signaled the commencement of a wholly new action that began with the substitution. The trial court, therefore, erred when it allowed Graham's substitution to relate back to the original filing of the complaint by the Clear Air Committee.

Rules 15(c) and 17(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure do not require a different result because neither deal with a situation where the filing of the original pleading was void. Indeed, under both it is presumed that the original filing of the pleading was otherwise valid. Rule 15(c) allows an amendment to relate back to the date of the original filing if the claims made in the amended pleading arose out of the same transaction, occurrence, or conduct set forth in the original pleading. Utah R. Civ. P. 15(c). If the original pleading is void, however, there is nothing to which the amended pleading may relate back.

Similarly, under Rule 17(a), if an action is commenced in the name of a party who is not the real party in interest, the action cannot be dismissed until a

reasonable time is allowed to substitute or join the real party in interest. Again, however, this rule assumes that a valid action was commenced in the first place.

Furthermore, any substitution of the real party in interest "shall have the same effect as if the action had been commenced in the name of the real party in interest." Utah R. Civ. P. 17(a). This rule does not even apply here because the original complaint in the trial court was filed by and in the name of a real party in interest—the Clear Air Committee. The Clear Air Committee was the entity that made the records request to the District and appealed the decision to charge for staff time to the District's Administrative Control Board. R. 3, 23, 82.⁶ Thus, it was a real party in interest, and there was no need to substitute Graham as the plaintiff to name a different real party in interest.

The only reason substitution was requested was that Graham suddenly realized—when the District brought it to his attention in the District's Answer—that the Clear Air Committee could not represent itself in court, and that it had not registered its name with the Division of Corporations and Commercial Code. Graham did not seek substitution because the Clear Air Committee was not a real party in interest. Therefore, Graham cannot rely upon Rule 17(a) for his substitution to relate back to the date the original complaint was filed.

⁶ The Assumed Name Statute did not preclude the Clear Air Committee from participating in administrative proceedings before the District, but it does preclude the Clear Air Committee's access to the courts.

Because the filing of the complaint by the Clear Air Committee was void and Graham's substitution as plaintiff at most commenced a new action, the complaint should have been dismissed as untimely. The earliest Graham could be considered to have been substituted as plaintiff was the date of his motion to amend, September 19, 1997, which was well beyond the 30-day appeal period allowed under the District's GRAMA Ordinance. Ordinance No. 92-C § 11F, Addendum B; *see also* Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-404 (1997) (establishing 30-day time period for appeal from records committee decision). The District's Administrative Control Board's decision on the Clear Air Committee's appeal was complete no later than July 3, 1997. The Court should rule that Graham's amended complaint was untimely and that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to consider the merits of the case.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT THE DISTRICT COULD CHARGE GRAHAM AND THE CLEAR AIR COMMITTEE FOR STAFF TIME INCURRED RESPONDING TO THE GRAMA REQUEST

If the Court concludes that the trial court properly considered the merits of this case, the trial court's ruling on the merits should be affirmed. The trial court appropriately ruled that the District could charge Graham staff time incurred responding to the Clear Air Committee's GRAMA request, even though some of the records requested were not transformed from one medium to another.

A. **A Common Sense Reading of the Plain Language of Section 63-2-203 Supports the Trial Court's Decision that the District Can Charge for Staff Time**

GRAMA reads, in relevant part, that "[e]very person has the right to inspect a public record free of charge, and the right to take a copy of a public record during normal working hours, subject to Sections 63-2-203 and 63-2-204." Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-201(1) (1997) (emphasis added). Thus, the right to inspect records free of charge is expressly made subject to section 63-2-203, which is the section allowing a governmental entity to charge fees.⁷ That sections reads:

When a governmental entity compiles a record in a form other than that normally maintained by the governmental entity, the actual costs under this section may include the following:

- (a) the cost of staff time for summarizing, compiling, or tailoring the record either into an organization or media to meet the person's request;
- (b) the cost of staff time for search, retrieval, and other direct administrative costs for complying with a request. . . .
- (c) in the case of fees for a record that is the result of computer output other than word processing, the actual incremental cost of providing the electronic services and products

⁷ Utah's statute is very different from the Minnesota statute and case law Graham relies upon. While Utah's statute provides for a right to inspect records free of charge, it strikes a balance in an effort to protect public entities and public tax monies by authorizing fees in certain circumstances.

together with a reasonable portion of the costs associated with formatting or interfacing the information for particular users, and the administrative costs as set forth in Subsections (2)(a) and (b).

Id. § 63-2-203(2) (emphasis added).

This section further provides that "[t]hose funds shall be used to recover the actual cost and expenses incurred by the governmental entity in providing the requested record or record series." *Id.* § 63-2-203(7)(b). This is consistent with public records access laws in other jurisdictions. *See Hamer v. Lentz*, 525 N.E.2d 1045, 1049 (Ill. App. Ct. 1988) (citing *Family Life League v. Department of Public Aid*, 493 N.E.2d 1054, 1059 (1986)) (finding that "the court may order the payment by plaintiff of `the reasonable cost of exercising [his] rights.'"); *National Treasury Employees Union v. Griffin*, 811 F.2d 644, 646 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (stating "FOIA generally requires requesters to pay the costs of searches"); *Merrill v. Oklahoma Tax Comm'n*, 831 P.2d 634, 642-43 (Okla. 1992) (finding Open Records Act permitted Commission to charge fees for records request); 5 U.S.C.A. § 552(a)(4)(A). Furthermore, under GRAMA "[a] governmental entity may require payment of past fees and future estimated fees **before beginning to process a request** if fees are expected to exceed \$50, or if the requester has not paid fees from previous requests." *Id.* § 63-2-203(8) (emphasis added). This is all that the District did.

Graham argues that the Court should adopt an extremely narrow definition of the term "compile." To adopt Graham's proposal, however, would completely eviscerate the ability of a political subdivision to recoup costs incurred in responding to GRAMA requests. "Compile" is not a defined term under GRAMA. However, it is a well-established rule of statutory construction that a term should be interpreted and applied in accordance with its usually accepted meaning. *Morton Int'l, Inc. v. Auditing Div. of Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 814 P.2d 581, 590 (Utah 1991).

The term "compile" is defined by *Webster's New World Dictionary* as "to gather and put together (statistics, facts, etc.) in an orderly form" and "to compose (a book, etc.) of materials gathered from various sources." *Webster's New World Dictionary* 290 (2d ed. 1980). The term "form" means, inter alia, "the particular mode of existence a thing has or takes;" "arrangement; esp. orderly arrangement; way in which parts of a whole are organized; pattern; style. . . ." *Id.* at 548. "Record" is a defined term under GRAMA that means:

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